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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT    

EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

_____________________________________________ 

 

VADIM BUKHBINOLER on behalf of himself and  

all other similarly situated consumers  

 

Plaintiff, 

 

  -against-      

 

STONELEIGH RECOVERY ASSOCIATES, LLC 

 

    Defendant. 

_____________________________________________ 

 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

 

Introduction 

 

1. Plaintiff, Vadim Bukhbinoler, brings this action against Stoneleigh Recovery Associates, 

LLC for violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692, et seq. 

(“FDCPA”). The FDCPA prohibits debt collectors from engaging in abusive, deceptive 

and unfair collection practices while attempting to collect on debts. 

Parties 

2. Plaintiff is a citizen of the State of New York who resides within this District. 

3. Plaintiff is a consumer as that term is defined by Section 1692(a)(3) of the FDCPA, in 

that the alleged debt that Defendant sought to collect from Plaintiff a consumer debt. 

4. Upon information and belief, Defendant's principal place of business is located in 

Lombard, Illinois. 

5. Defendant is regularly engaged, for profit, in the collection of debts allegedly owed by 

consumers.  
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6. Defendant is a “debt collector” as that term is defined by the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 

1692(a)(6).  

Jurisdiction and Venue 

7. This Court has federal question jurisdiction under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(d) and 28 U.S.C. § 

1331.  

8. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), as the acts and 

transactions that give rise to this action occurred, in substantial part, in this district.  

Allegations Particular to Vadim Bukhbinoler 

9. Upon information and belief, on a date better known by Defendant, Defendant began to 

attempt to collect an alleged consumer debt from the Plaintiff. 

10. On or about February 3, 2016, Defendant sent the Plaintiff a collection letter.   

11. The said letter was an effort to collect on a defaulted consumer debt. 

12. Such a collection letter, like the said February 3, 2016 collection letter, is open to one of 

multiple interpretations and would likely be misunderstood by an unsophisticated 

consumer. 

13. § 1692e requires debt collectors, when informing debtors of their account balance, to 

disclose whether the balance may increase due to interest and fees.  Avila v. Riexinger 

Associates, LLC, 817 F.3d 72, 76 (2d Cir. 2016). 

14. Defendant’s collection letter fails to include the safe harbor language set out in Avila v. 

Riexinger Associates, LLC, 817 F.3d 72, 76 (2d Cir. 2016). 

15. An unsophisticated consumer would be left uncertain by the said letter as to whether the 

said account was accruing interest or not. 

16. Pursuant to section 5001 of New York Civil Practice Law and Rules, a creditor shall 
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recover prejudgment interest "upon a sum awarded because of a breach of performance of 

a contract." N.Y. C.P.L.R. § 5001(a); see also Rhodes v. Davis, 628 Fed. Appx. 787, 794 

(2d Cir. 2015) (Under New York Law, "[i]nterest is generally mandatory "upon a sum 

awarded because of a breach of performance of a contract . . . ." (citing Id. § 5001(a))). 

17. Section 5004 sets the rate of prejudgment interest at nine percent. N.Y. C.P.L.R. § 5004.  

When calculating the interest due, it "shall be computed from the earliest ascertainable 

date the cause of action existed." Id. § 5001(b). 

18. "In New York, a breach of contract cause of action accrues at the time of the breach." 

Ely-Cruikshank Co. v. Bank of Montreal, 81 N.Y.2d 399, 402, 615 N.E.2d 985, 599 

N.Y.S.2d 501 (1993) (citations omitted). 

19. Prejudgment interest on defaulted debt obligations "shall be computed from the earliest 

ascertainable date the cause of action existed," which is when the debtor fails to make the 

monthly payment. N.Y. C.P.L.R. § 5001(b). 

20. "New York law provides that "[i]nterest shall be recovered upon a sum awarded because 

of a breach of performance of a contract," N.Y. C.P.L.R. § 5001(a), and that interest is to 

be computed "from the earliest date the cause of action existed," N.Y. C.P.L.R. § 

5001(b), at the rate of nine percent per annum, N.Y. C.P.L.R. § 5004.  Accordingly, 

Plaintiffs are entitled to prejudgment interest on the installments that were not timely 

paid." Kasperek v. City Wire Works, Inc., No. 03 CV 3986 (RML), 2009 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 19803, at *8 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 12, 2009). 

21. The said February 3, 2016 letter failed to correctly state the in full the amount of the debt 

allegedly owed. 

22. Though the February 3, 2016 letter listed a “Balance Due” and demanded payment in 
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full, the letter did not state on which date the “Balance Due” was calculated, and did not 

explain that contractual or statutory prejudgment interest and/or legal fees would 

continue to accrue on the unpaid principal; thus, the Plaintiff’s total balance might be 

greater on the date he makes a payment.  

23. A reasonable consumer could read the notice and be misled into believing that he or she 

could pay her debt in full by paying the amount listed on the notice.  

24. However, since contractual or statutory prejudgment interest is automatically accruing 

daily, and if there are undisclosed legal fees that will accrue, a consumer who pays the 

“Balance Due” stated on the notice will not know whether the debt has been paid in full. 

25. The debt collector could still seek the automatically accrued contractual or statutory 

prejudgment interest that accumulated after the notice was sent but before the balance 

was paid, or sell the consumer’s debt to a third party, which itself could seek the interest 

and fees from the consumer. 

26. The statement of a “Balance Due,” without notice that the amount is already increasing 

due to accruing automatically accruing contractual or statutory prejudgment interest or 

other charges, would mislead the least sophisticated consumer into believing that 

payment of the amount stated will clear his or her account.  

27. The FDCPA requires debt collectors, when notifying consumers of their account balance, 

to disclose that the balance may increase due to interest and fees; failure to include such 

disclosures would harm consumers such as the Plaintiff who may hold the reasonable but 

mistaken belief, that timely payment will satisfy their debts and it would abrogate the 

Congressional purpose of full and fair disclosure to consumers that is embodied in 

Section 1692e. 
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28. Pursuant to New York state law, prejudgment interest starts to accrue on the debt from 

the date of the breach of contract at the rate of 9% per annum.  

29. The amount of the contractual or prejudgment interest automatically increases each day 

that the defaulted debt remains unpaid due to the automatically contractual or statutory 

accrued interest. 

30. Collection notices that state only the “Balance Due,” but fail to disclose that the balance 

might increase due to interest and fees, are “misleading” within the meaning of Section 

1692e. 

31. To the extent that the Creditor or the Defendant intended to waive the automatically 

accrued and accruing interest, it was required to disclose that in the most conspicuous of 

terms. 

32. Stoneleigh Recovery Associates, LLC was required to include a disclosure that the 

automatically accrued interest was accruing, or in the alternative, Stoneleigh Recovery 

Associates, LLC was required to disclose that the creditor has made an intentional 

decision to waive the automatically accruing interest; nonetheless it did not make any of 

those disclosures in violation of 1692e.  

33. Failure to disclose such a waiver of the automatically accruing interest is in of itself 

deceptive and “misleading” within the meaning of Section 1692e. 

34. Stoneleigh Recovery Associates, LLC knew that the balance would increase due to 

interest, fees and/or disbursements. 

35. “Applying these principles, we hold that Plaintiffs have stated a claim that the collection 

notices at issue here are misleading within the meaning of Section 1692e… a consumer 

who pays the "current balance" stated on the notice will not know whether the debt has 
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been paid in full.” Avila v. Riexinger & Assocs., LLC, Nos. 15-1584(L), 15-1597(Con), 

2016 U.S. App. LEXIS 5327, at *10-11 (2d Cir. Mar. 22, 2016)   

36. Although the February 3, 2016 letter stated a “Balance Due” and demanded payment in 

full, the letter also failed to disclose to the Plaintiff that the Defendant would attempt to 

collect the additional accruing interest at a later date. 

37. Absent a disclosure by the holder of the debt that the automatic interest is waived, even if 

the debtor pays the “Balance Due” the Defendant and or the creditor could still seek the 

automatic interest that accumulated after the breach of contract, or sell the consumer’s 

debt to a third party, which itself could seek the automatic interest and from the 

consumer.  Avila, at *10-11. 

38. Upon receiving the February 3, 2016 letter, the Plaintiff was uncertain whether the 

“Balance Due” was accruing interest as there was no disclosure or admonition indicating 

otherwise. 

39. A debtor who pays the “Balance Due” stated in the collection letter will be left unsure as 

to whether or not the debt has been paid in full, as the Defendant could still attempt to 

collect on any interest and fees that accumulated after the letter was sent but before the 

balance was paid. 

40. The February 3, 2016 letter would cause the unsophisticated consumer uncertainty and 

force him to guess how much money he allegedly owed to the Defendant, how much 

money would accrue daily on his alleged debt, how much additional money he would 

owe if he paid the amount demanded in the February 3, 2016 letter, and if or when the 

Defendant’s collection efforts would actually discontinue if he remitted “Balance Due” 

that the Defendant demanded.  
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41. Section 1692e of the FDCPA prohibits a debt collector from using any false, or any 

deceptive or misleading representation or means in connection with the collection of a 

debt, including the false representation of the character, amount or legal status of any 

debt, see, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A) and § 1692e(10). 

42. Upon information and belief, such actions are part of a scheme or business of the 

Defendant when attempting to collect alleged debts from consumers in the State of New 

York.  

43. Upon information and belief, the Defendant’s collection letters, such as the said February 

3, 2016 collection letter, number in at least the hundreds. 

44. The Defendant, by failing to state that it would add interest to the amount of the debt, 

made materially false statements, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e of the FDCPA. 

45. Defendant's February 3, 2016 letter is in violation of 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692e(2)(A) 

and 1692e(10) of the FDCPA for the use of any false representation or deceptive means 

to collect or attempt to collect any debt and for misrepresenting the amount of the debt 

owed by the Plaintiff. 

46. Plaintiff suffered injury in fact by being subjected to unfair and abusive practices of the 

Defendant. 

47. Plaintiff suffered actual harm by being the target of the Defendant's misleading debt 

collection communications. 

48. Defendant violated the Plaintiff's right not to be the target of misleading debt collection 

communications. 

49. Defendant violated the Plaintiff's right to a truthful and fair debt collection process. 

50. Defendant used materially false, deceptive, misleading representations and means in its 
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attempted collection of Plaintiff's alleged debt. 

51. Defendant's communications were designed to cause the debtor to suffer a harmful 

disadvantage in charting a course of action in response to the Defendant's collection 

efforts. 

52. The FDCPA ensures that consumers are fully and truthfully apprised of the facts and of 

their rights, the act enables them to understand, make informed decisions about, and 

participate fully and meaningfully in the debt collection process. The purpose of the 

FDCPA is to provide information that helps consumers to choose intelligently. The 

Defendant's false representations misled the Plaintiff in a manner that deprived him of his 

right to enjoy these benefits, these materially misleading statements trigger liability under 

section 1692e of the Act.  

53. These deceptive communications additionally violated the FDCPA since they frustrate 

the consumer’s ability to intelligently choose his or her response.  

54. Plaintiff seeks to end these violations of the FDCPA. Plaintiff has suffered damages 

including but not limited to, fear, stress, mental anguish, emotional stress and acute 

embarrassment. Plaintiff and putative class members are entitled to preliminary and 

permanent injunctive relief, including, declaratory relief, and damages. 

CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

55. This action is brought as a class action. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of himself 

and on behalf of all other persons similarly situated pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure. 
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56. The identities of all class members are readily ascertainable from the records of 

Stoneleigh Recovery Associates, LLC and those business and governmental entities on 

whose behalf it attempts to collect debts. 

57. Excluded from the Plaintiff's Class is the Defendant and all officers, members, partners, 

managers, directors, and employees of Stoneleigh Recovery Associates, LLC, and all of 

their respective immediate families, and legal counsel for all parties to this action and all 

members of their immediate families. 

58. There are questions of law and fact common to the Plaintiff's Class, which common 

issues predominate over any issues involving only individual class members.  The 

principal issues are whether the Defendant's communications with the Plaintiff, such as 

the above stated claims, violate provisions of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act. 

59. The Plaintiff's claims are typical of the class members, as all are based upon the same 

facts and legal theories. 

60. The Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Plaintiff's Class defined 

in this complaint. The Plaintiff has retained counsel with experience in handling 

consumer lawsuits, complex legal issues, and class actions, and neither the Plaintiff nor 

his attorneys have any interests, which might cause them not to vigorously pursue this 

action. 

61. This action has been brought, and may properly be maintained, as a class action pursuant 

to the provisions of Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure because there is a 

well-defined community interest in the litigation: 
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(a) Numerosity: The Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, 

that the Plaintiff's Class defined above is so numerous that joinder of all 

members would be impractical. 

(b) Common Questions Predominate: Common questions of law and fact exist 

as to all members of the Plaintiff's Class and those questions predominate 

over any questions or issues involving only individual class members. The 

principal issues are whether the Defendant's communications with the 

Plaintiff, such as the above stated claims, violate provisions of the Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act. 

(c) Typicality: The Plaintiff's claims are typical of the claims of the class 

members.  Plaintiff and all members of the Plaintiff's Class defined in this 

complaint have claims arising out of the Defendant's common uniform 

course of conduct complained of herein. 

(d) Adequacy:  The Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of 

the class members insofar as Plaintiff has no interests that are adverse to the 

absent class members.  The Plaintiff is committed to vigorously litigating 

this matter.  Plaintiff has also retained counsel experienced in handling 

consumer lawsuits, complex legal issues, and class actions.  Neither the 

Plaintiff nor his counsel have any interests, which might cause them not to 

vigorously pursue the instant class action lawsuit. 

(e) Superiority: A class action is superior to the other available means for the 

fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy because individual 

joinder of all members would be impracticable.  Class action treatment 
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will permit a large number of similarly situated persons to prosecute their 

common claims in a single forum efficiently and without unnecessary 

duplication of effort and expense that individual actions would engender. 

Certification of a class under Rule 23(b)(l)(A) of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure is appropriate because adjudications with respect to individual 

members create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications which could 

establish incompatible standards of conduct for Defendant who, on 

information and belief, collects debts throughout the United States of 

America. 

62. Certification of a class under Rule 23(b)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure is  

also appropriate in that a determination that the above stated claims, violate provisions of 

the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, and is tantamount to declaratory relief and any 

monetary relief under the FDCPA would be merely incidental to that determination. 

63. Certification of a class under Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure is 

also appropriate in that the questions of law and fact common to members of the 

Plaintiff's Class predominate over any questions affecting an individual member, and a 

class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of 

the controversy. 

64. Further, Defendant has acted, or failed to act, on grounds generally applicable to the Rule 

(b)(l)(A) and (b)(2) Class, thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief with respect 

to the Class as a whole. 
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65. Depending on the outcome of further investigation and discovery, Plaintiff may, at the 

time of class certification motion, seek to certify one or more classes only as to particular 

issues pursuant to Fed. R.Civ. P. 23(c)(4). 

AS AND FOR A FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

 

Violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act brought by Plaintiff on behalf of 

himself and the members of a class, as against the Defendant. 

 

66. Plaintiff repeats, reiterates, and incorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs 

numbered one (1) through sixty five (65) herein with the same force and effect is if the 

same were set forth at length herein. 

67. This cause of action is brought on behalf of Plaintiff and the members of a class. 

68. The class involves all individuals whom Defendant's records reflect resided in the State 

of New York and who were sent a collection letter in substantially the same form letter as 

the letter sent to the Plaintiff on or about February 3, 2016; and (a) the collection letter 

was sent to a consumer seeking payment of a personal debt; and (b) the collection letter 

was not returned by the postal service as undelivered; and (c) the Plaintiff asserts that the 

letter contained violations of 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692e(2)(A) and 1692e(10) of the 

FDCPA for the use of any false representation or deceptive means to collect or attempt to 

collect any debt and for misrepresenting the amount of the debt owed by the Plaintiff. 

Violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 

69. The Defendant's actions as set forth above in the within complaint violates the Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act. 

70. Because the Defendant violated the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, the Plaintiff and 

the members of the class are entitled to damages in accordance with the Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act. 
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, respectfully requests preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, and that this 

Court enter judgment in Plaintiff's favor and against the Defendant and award damages as follows: 

(a) Statutory damages provided under the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692(k); 

(b) Attorney fees, litigation expenses and costs incurred in bringing this action; and 

(c) Any other relief that this Court deems appropriate and just under the 

circumstances. 

Dated: Brooklyn, New York 

            November 3, 2016 

 

    /s/ Maxim Maximov_____ 

Maxim Maximov, Esq. 

Attorneys for the Plaintiff 

Maxim Maximov, LLP 

1701 Avenue P 

Brooklyn, New York 11229 

Office: (718) 395-3459 

Facsimile: (718) 408-9570 

E-mail: m@maximovlaw.com 

  

Plaintiff requests trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

  

 

     /s/ Maxim Maximov_____ 

 Maxim Maximov, Esq. 
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 N/A

N/A

 NO

 NO

 YES

 /S/ MAXIM MAXIMOV, ESQ.
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tidy

Pehroary 3. 2016

8AM-SPN1 (esT)

Orign141Cnedlior: ig4ISSFA1 ION0A

creditor: AMERII'ANIIONDA FINANCI
CORPI)RNrioN

Account No.:
VADIM BUKHBINOLER Sit& No.:100 llEMPSIPAD AVE
STATEN ISLAND NY 103013-6073 Balance Due: 9i.55742

Settlement OfThr: 93.190.47
Due Dote' 02;293116

**IMPORTANT TAX SEASON SEITLEMENT OFFER**
lJcLi VAD1M RUK11131NOLER:

We hate previously notified you of your this] duo hniani:e of Iv1..2:117.1I2 tkit A tyllhlt !CAN 11ONDA FINANCE CORPORATION placed with ourtullictAt Storteleicli 12,:couely Associates, 1 undeithand that tunes aro noigh. Tan season has arrived and We woldd like to give you aoiiil ^Jps,..-ottifflity to lii lice voti nX liii Lu and savc yoo imme:....! We have been authorized ill atmer tt 709i settlement on the total halaneeas Set Heinen! hi Cull, until fl2f29/21116. lf you accept this offer 0 turtle, pm will only hare to pay 53, 100.47 In settle VOW" MIAMI] in bilkThis offer is unry open for a limited lime and will nnul ill Ii 02121)1201(t. We ore nut nbligakd to extend or renew this offer. su takeadvantage of the savings [tow!

The balance doe on the account is 9, 1,55/.82. Howe you •ccept the shulr meal offer outlined in this letter, you will only have 11111, yS3.19047 to settle your account in thl

r yLoit would like to take udvarila•,e oppoil nu). wnsideiLitily hisver Connlei us today. You can pay now by cagingtoll free 977-X 12-8915; Monday Iltromdi lfiursday betwren 8:011A9'l and 9:00 PM (C,S11) or Friday between 8:00 AM and 900 PM (C;:c1).
Pay oolitic by etedit card! Irs fast and secure. Simple :1.010 filtic.'w
You eon send n cheek or money order Db FO 02/2921116

baondcinh Recover v Associates. L.LC
1470

I orotund 11 0014ii_8479

Sincerely,
7r.cura...t 9creefaccit
Francis Goldstein
Stancici&tRceoYery Associates, 1.1k.1

Debt collo:tots. uuu aecordaucc wiM the Fair Dein Collo:M.0 Practices Act.15111.S.C. section I 6, t2 ci seg., ant prohibited Irmo enguging Uiabusive, deceptivc. and unfair debt collection effortsincluding but not limited le: (1) the usie or threat 01 violence; thc use of obscene orprotium language; and (iii) repeated phone calls made will) I he intem lit ;Homy. abuse, or harass.
IL a creditor or debt collector receives a money judgment ag;c11:4 you lii tIlL 7-1111Le Line federal (am; may I'll:veal the MIlowing typed (11 irieentenom beimt taken ur pay Mc dein:tit soppknomml liworilL'.1's91): (2) Saelal SeClinnLy. (3) Pokihe (Wcifnueli; (4) Spisitlsoppoi L Maintenance I'ainnonv) co child support: (5) Li:unpin% ment kcnelos: (6) Disability benefits: (7) Wollie6;' compenvnbon benefits: 00Public or private jlensions; (0) Velerans1 benefits: (10) Ectletal :ottani. Imo,. federal Audent ;.tranis. end lederal work study and: (11)Ninety percent iii yolir Wages or Salary earned cu h, list 1, 1011 du VS,

New York City Residents:
This collect:on ageney is Imensed by the New York City I Icisirlineol of Consumer Affairs, license number: 1274118

Thb is an attempt tit collect It debt; nny information Mit:tined will be used fur that purpose.'nits totter litts been sent by a deld etillector.

1 lictu-i•h ii Ii 1-1, 1 0, Li, With hymen!.
VAD1M BUKHBINOLER
100 tiltAlmrLAD A 1, i Change of Address Notification
s.rATEN 1S1 AND NY 103064073 Address Aptf;

City I.
Original Creditor: SUSIiFX I IONIA

Slate ip

CrNliNr: AMERICAN I IONOA FINANCE lionre Plume litititiM PlunIC
CORPORATfON

AccoUnt No,:

SRA File No.:
.11111Hilill'ildliPHIPIIMlinill'll"Plildih'IlfidBalance Due: 54.W.82
Stondeigh Recovery. Associates. 1.I.0

SellholiclitOlTur; 93, 1%47 l'O BM 1479
Due [kite: 02,29/All o Lombard. II (411,18.8479

Enclosed Armond:

Stoneleigh Recover

PO BOX 1118

yL„. Associates, 1,LC
Charlotte, NC 2R201-11113 PO Box 1479

Lombard. IL 601-1-8-179Po-soma& Otnjidentird 11.
Toll Hee: 87)-812-S915

Monday-1 hursday SA M-81'M (CST)



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT    

EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

_____________________________________________ 

 

VADIM BUKHBINOLER on behalf of himself and  

all other similarly situated consumers   

 

Plaintiff, 

 

  -against-      

 

STONELEIGH RECOVERY ASSOCIATES, LLC 

 

    Defendant. 

_____________________________________________ 

 

 

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION 

 

 

TO: STONELEIGH RECOVERY ASSOCIATES, LLC 

 810 SPRINGER DRIVE 

 LOMBARD, ILLINOIS 60148 

 

 

YOU ARE HEREBY SUMMONED and required to file with the Clerk of this Court 

and serve upon PLAINTIFF’S ATTORNEY: 

 

MAXIM MAXIMOV, ESQ. 

MAXIM MAXIMOV, LLP 

1701 AVENUE P 

BROOKLYN, NEW YORK 11229 

 

an answer to the complaint which is herewith served upon you, with 21 days after service of this 

summons upon you, exclusive of the day of service.  If you fail to do so, judgment by default will 

be taken against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 

 

 

_________________________________  _________________________________ 

CLERK      DATE 

 

 

_________________________________ 

BY DEPUTY CLERK 
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ClassAction.org
This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this 
post: Debt Collection Suit Filed Against Stoneleigh Recovery Associates

https://www.classaction.org/news/debt-collection-suit-filed-against-stoneleigh-recovery-associates



